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Who Shot JR? 
            Who Shot JL?

     Pacman
              Rubik’s Cube


So another new decade began and it looked like it was going to be a good one.  I was becoming a bit obsessed with Golf, nearly every day, even in the snow and ice.  They had even developed Orange Balls especially for fanatics like me.  My partners in crime were Cameron, Andy and Fraser.  I was by far the best player (in the World) and entered the school match play tournament ‘The Dennis Cup’.  I had high hopes of victory, especially after winning 7 & 6 and 10 & 8.  I made it all the way to the final, which just happened to be my last ever day at school, 23rd June 1980.  I think the emotion of leaving school got to me, as I lost 7 & 6 (complete bottle job) to, I think his name was Colin, Montgomerie, or something like that.

My sister, Fiona, had an eventful start to the decade.  On 13th January, she narrowly missed being hit by a falling wall, at Ayresome Park.  Then on Tuesday 5th February her name appeared in the Middlesbrough Evening Gazette (probably because she works there), after a Taxi driver, who was attacked and knifed, rang Fiona’s doorbell late at night, for assistance.  There was also an unfortunate accident which resulted in some drastic Dental work! 
This was the year we became Film Stars.  Andy’s dad had a Cine camera and on the 19th October we drove out to a sleepy hollow called ‘Scaniport’, to make our first movie.

The Beast of Scaniport

Starring, Alister Baldwin, Andrew Sarjeant and Cameron Fraser

It started off with the three of us out for a leisurely cycle ride and we stopped off for a rest in Scaniport.  We got into an argument and I stormed off on my bike.  The other two became concerned for my whereabouts (after about 10 seconds) and set off to find me.  They found me (after about 10 seconds) spread-eagled on the road, dead! At first it seemed that I had been killed by a massive bottle of Tomato Ketchup, as I was covered in the stuff, but something much more sinister had happened. I had become the first victim of ‘The Beast of Scaniport’.  As this was a low budget film, we didn’t actually show the Beast killing me, because I had a dual role in this film as myself and as the Beast.  So after finding me dead, Andy and Cam panicked and tried to get out of Scaniport as quickly as they could.  However they got separated up a country lane and Cameron became the second victim of The Beast, mercilessly slayed and dumped in a ditch. Andy tried to escape, but when he stopped to gather his thoughts, the Beast pounced from the bushes and beat Andy to death.  The film finishes with the Beast (basically, me with a blanket over my head) hobbling up the path, looking like ‘The Hunchback of Notre Dame’.

-----------------------

In his first Budget as Chancellor of the Exchequer, Geoffrey Howe put the vehicle licence up £10 to £60.  Fortunately Dad was wise to this and bought his for the Volkswagen, the day before for £50.  On July 3rd, the minimum lending rate went down from 17% to 16%.  I was glad I was only 16 years old and didn’t have to worry about such things.

When the summer months came, Hotel Baldwin opened its doors again.  On the 20th May Nanna came to stay, she flew from Heathrow by Trident.  After being treated to the full escorted guide to the Highlands of Scotland, she finally left on the 5th June.  Then Roy and Irene came to stay for a couple of nights. I’m not quite sure who Roy and Irene were?  The following week Leonard and Joan came to stay for a few nights, before they had to leave for Gleneagles for a Marley Tiles Golf Tournament. At the end of June, Roger and Rosemary came to stay with baby Jethro and Caramel the cat. Then a week later David and Val came to stay.  While they were staying we all went to the Isle of Skye.  We stopped at Eilean Donan Castle and also saw the Cuillin Hills from Elgol.

As I mentioned earlier, this was my last year at school and it wasn’t going very well.  We sat Mock Exams at the start of the year and I didn’t pass any.  It’s not that I couldn’t REED and RIGHT, my excuse was that I’d moved to a new school and hadn’t been able to adapt to the new surroundings.  The truth was I was a lazy little shit, who was too interested in Golf, Rugby, Football and GIRLS, well, one girl in particular, Cam’s sister Catri. There were two small problems, her brother was one of my best mates and her Dad was our Headmaster at school. She was a bit younger than me but was a real stunner and when she said that she liked me too, I was a teenager in love.  With all these distractions, I think I did quite well in the end and managed to pass three exams, Math’s, English and Arithmetic.  However I’d made up my mind to leave school and get a job.  My dream was to be an apprentice Sheet Metal worker, working 40 hours a week for 75p an hour, working in a shit hole of a factory and being given all the crap jobs no one else wanted. My dream came true when I received a letter from Inverness Heating & Ventilating Co. Ltd, offering me the job as ‘The Apprentice’.

So on June 25 1980, I started work at Inverness Heating & Ventilating Co. Ltd, there was another apprentice called Rod who started at the same time as me.  They had an initiation ceremony for apprentices, which involved being strung up by your feet on the crane that went up and down the factory.  This really was a dream come true, so much better than school!  I even had the added bonus of contracting a nasty skin irritation on my forearms, which the Doctor thought was Scabies (nice!). Then a couple of days later I suffered congestion in my eyes, nose and throat from dust at the Moray Firth Maltings.  I really hated this job and I was crap at it aswell.  My welding skills were non-existent; I couldn’t weld two pieces of paper together.  We had to bend inch thick sheets of metal; I couldn’t even lift them.  After about 6 months I used to just sweep the factory and paint oil tanks red.  Radio 1 would be playing all day long and one song will always remind of this dark period of my life – Diana Ross – Upside Down.  God did I hate that song.  It was backed up by Olivia Newton John signing – Xanadu.
1980 was not a very good year for riding Bikes.  On June 8th Dad had written in his diary that I hurt myself falling off my bike. This didn’t tell half the story of what was a million to one accident.  I was cycling home along the Dores Road and came to an uphill section.  There was another cyclist in front of me, going quite slowly, so I thought that I’d overtake them.  As I was going past them, the brake lever on their bike fell off into my front wheel.  Surprisingly, I wasn’t expecting this to happen and I was thrown over the handlebars and hit the road face first.  The Bike was a write off; the back wheel was in front of the front wheel.  My face also looked a write off, with all the skin on the left cheek scraped off.  Fortunately it was superficial and turned into a mega scab.  My other episode on a bike this year, involved a Dog, some teeth marks and a Tetanus jab.  At least I got the day off work.  I think I’d rather of been bitten by a dog everyday, than work in that Factory.
Now that I was 16 years old, I thought it’s time I showed that I was a man.  On August 12th, I shaved for the first time. I used my Dads razor and shaving brush.  That bum fluff was gone in no time and my face was as smooth as a baby’s bum.  My other attempt at being grown up wasn’t quite so successful.  I thought that my Mum and Dad have gone out for a long time and decided to risk a cigarette in the bathroom.  I was puffing away, feeling really pleased with myself, when the dreaded noise of the key in the door was heard.  “Al, we’re home, are you upstairs?”  “Yes, I’m in the bathroom, desperately trying to hide the fact that I’ve been smoking a fag”.  No chance, the aroma of Benson & Hedges was filling the air.  “Have you been smoking?” “No, I was holding it for someone while they took a pee.”  I promised never to smoke again.  Which I sort of stuck to as I never really smoked in the first place. I just lit the cigarette, puffed on it and blew smoke in the air.  The smoke never actually got anywhere near my lungs.

We were really getting into the Highland way of life.  Dads Company played Curling every so often and I could usually wangle myself a game.  It was great fun; like bowls on ice with a broom.  Something else we tried was orienteering.  Dad took Andy, and me to Ord Hill on the Black Isle on August 31st, then we went again, this time with Cameron aswell, to Cawdor Wood, on September 21st.  The idea is to follow clues, read a map and use a compass.  We thought the best way to approach Orienteering was to charge around the woods like headless chickens and hope we stumbled upon the clues.  Dad on the other hand, read the map, used the compass and followed the clues and finished a lot quicker than us.

On 16th August Dads work entered a raft called ‘KESSIE’ (KESSock Bridge, neSSIE), in the annual Great River Ness Raft Race.  They came 7th in the Commercial Race. Before the race all the rafts paraded through the town on floats and all the towns folk came out to watch.
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My Auntie Vi and Uncle Doug lived in Hong Kong and we were going there on holiday in December. So I needed to get myself a Passport. I had my photo taken at MacLeod’s Photographers, in the town on October 11th.  The application was sent off to Glasgow and returned to me in good time for our holiday.  I hadn’t told work, but I didn’t think there was much chance of me going back there after my month long holiday.  I couldn’t wait, I’d never been on a plane before and now I was going to be flying to the other side of the world.
                 My first Passport



            Stamps in Passport
Hong Kong

Saturday 6th December - We set off on our holiday of a lifetime.  After dumping Becky the cat at Copperfield Kennels, we caught the train from Inverness to London. 

Sunday 7th December - We had lunch with David and Valarie, at their flat in Woolwich, then stayed the night at the Gatwick Hickmet Hotel.  

Monday 8th December - We caught Cathay Pacific Flight CX200, a Boeing 747 departing Gatwick at 10.15 a.m. We fly over snow-covered Europe and landed at Bahrain, to refuel and stretch our legs.  I needed to get out of my seat.  While Mum and Dad had sorted themselves out with Marco Polo Class accommodation, I had to sit next to the window, next to two Chinese people at the back of the plane.  I turned into ‘Mute Boy’ and couldn’t move from my seat for fear of having to speak to a Chinese person.  

Tuesday 9th December – We finally landed at Kai Tak airport in Hong Kong at 08.50 a.m. 3 days after leaving home.  This was my first time on a plane and the landing at Kai Tak was pretty hairy.  The plane had to bank steeply at the last minute, over low-rise apartment blocks; you can almost wave to the people inside. Vi and Doug met us at the airport and we spent the rest of the day resting at their flat in Kowloon Tong.  The body clock was well messed up, it thought that day was night and night was day.

Thursday 11th December – Dad and I caught the ‘Star Ferry’ from Kowloon to Hong Kong Island.  We walked around the streets, the Botanic Gardens and then took the Peak Tram to the Peak.  I guess that’s why it’s called the Peak Tram.

Saturday 13th December – Uncle Doug sorted us out with an unofficial tour guide.  Yu-Hung To, took Dad and I in his car for a trip round Hong Kong Island.  We went to the peak (again) and then we went to Aberdeen (not the Scottish one) which was like a ‘floating population’ on houseboats and fishing junks.  They even had huge floating restaurants.

Monday 15th December – We all went on a cruise to Aberdeen (again) and the islands, on the ‘Canon Jade Princess’. We had a Chinese lunch on board, well I didn’t, I wasn’t touching that foreign muck. 

CHINA

Tuesday 16th December – We went by train from Kowloon to China.  I think China’s a bit too big to see it all in one day, but we gave it a go.  When the train got to the border, we had to get off to be interrogated, strip searched and beaten, before being allowed into China.  China Travel took us in a bus (blindfolded) to visit Shenzhen reservoir, and then they took us to a Kindergarten where children danced for us.  We then walked around the streets of Shenzhen.  Everyone looked at us as if we were aliens.  We saw snakes and Chicken beheaded and sold to eat.  Get me back to the land of McDonalds!

Land of McDonalds – Hong Kong

Friday 19th December – Safely back in the land of McDonalds, we have a great day out at Ocean Park.  We had to catch a Cable Car from the entrance to the main park. They had a very impressive Aquarium, but the highlight was seeing the dolphins and Killer Whale perform in the Ocean Theatre and an American High Diving Team.

Sunday 21st December – Doug’s inspector Philip drove us round the New Territories. We saw the China border at Shor Ta Cok (Sha Tau Kok) and Lok Ma Car (Lok Ma Chau).  We also went to visit (a) Fuc Ying (Fung Ying) temple at Fanling and (b) Ching Chung (China Man) Koon temple at Castle Peak. 

Thursday 25th December – Christmas Day – We spent the day at Vi and Doug’s flat in Kowloon Tong. I got a Toshiba Radio Cassette player for Christmas.

Monday 29th December – Mum, Dad and I took the ferry to Lantau Island.  We walked round Silvermine Bay and swam in the sea.

Wednesday 31st December – Hogmanay – We saw in the New Year at Vi and Doug’s flat.
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Me at ‘The STAR FERRY’ in Hong Kong


         Me, Mum, Auntie Vi and Uncle Doug

1980 Facts & Figures

March 4th – Robert Mugabe, aged 52, elected Prime Minister of the new state of Zimbabwe. 

March 27th – 100 men died when the oil platform, Alexander Kielland, collapsed into the North 
Sea.

May 19th – Mount St. Helen’s, a long dormant volcano in the north-western United States, 
erupted.

May 5th – The SAS stormed the terrorist occupied Iranian Embassy in Knightsbridge, killing 4 
of the 5 terrorists.

July 5th – Bjorn Borg won a 5th successive Wimbledon Men’s Singles title, beating John McEnroe
 in 5 sets. 

July 19th – Aug 3rd – The Moscow Olympic Games, British Gold Medalists - Allan Wells -100m, 
Steve Ovett - 800m, Sebastian Coe - 1500m, Daley Thompson – Decathlon, Duncan

 Goodhew – 100m Breaststroke
Aug 30th – Lech Walesa, leader of Solidarity, Poland’s independent trade union, signed an 
agreement with the communists to allow Independent Trade Unions.

September - The first pictures of Lady Diana Spencer appear in the newspapers.

Nov 4th – Ronald Reagan the Republican candidate defeated President Jimmy Carter, in the US
 Presidential election.

Deaths

March 31st – Jesse Owens, US athlete, died aged 66.

April 29th – Sir Alfred Hitchcock, the Master of Suspense, died aged 80.

June 23rd – Sanjay Gandhi, eldest son of Prime Minister, Mrs. Indira Gandhi, was killed in plane 
crash, aged 33.

July 24th – Peter Sellers, British actor and comedian, died aged 54.

Nov 7th – Steve McQueen, US actor, died aged 50.

Nov 22nd – Mae West, US actress, died aged 88.

 Dec 8th – John Lennon, ex Beatle, was shot dead by Mark Chapman, outside the Dakota building; 
his home in New York, died aged 40.
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     Breville Toastie
      Bucks Fizz

     Spit the dog
                Charles & Di’s Wedding

On the 2nd of January, Mum and Auntie Vi flew from Hong Kong to Australia and Dad & I flew from Hong Kong to Gatwick.  Mum and Vi were from a big family and most of them moved to Australia in the 50’s and 60’s. So they had a lot of catching up to do.  Meanwhile Dad & I landed at Gatwick at 8.30am, but couldn’t catch a train to Inverness until 9.45pm.  Dad thought that a good way to pass the time was to visit The Natural History Museum and Science Museum, then onto the ‘Pissaro’ exhibition at the Hayward Gallery.  I was completely wiped out with jet lag.  When we did eventually catch the Sleeper (operative word) train, it took fourteen hours to get to snowbound Inverness.  That must have been the shortest fourteen hours of my life.  I slept like a baby for the whole journey. I was so refreshed; I even found the time to go tobogganing in the afternoon, while Dad collected Becky from the cattery.

On Monday 5th January, reality kicked in and against my better judgement I returned to the god-forsaken Inverness Heating & Ventilating.  Thankfully it only lasted a few weeks.  Dad spoke to Mr. Blackhurst on the 19th February and he told him that I was being paid off (joke over; “here’s a fiver for the rest of the month”).  He said that I was a good worker, but not suited to working with my hands!  What am I supposed to use, my feet, to do painting, lifting, sweeping the floor.  I’ll tell you what I’m not suited to, slave labour, minimum wage and Swafega!  As luck would have it, I wasn’t unemployed for long, infact not at all.  On the weekend after I was laid off, we were round at our neighbours, Jim & Freda Clark and they owned two newsagents in the town.  One was a kiosk opposite the Station and the other one was in Kingsmills.  They said they could do with someone to work in the Kingsmills shop and I was the boy/man.

So on 23rd February I started my new job at Macdonald’s Newsagent, in Kingsmills.  I started work at 6 a.m. (you’re having a laugh) and my job was to assist Keith, the manager, with sorting the newspapers for delivery and to serve the early morning customers.  You’re probably thinking “Who goes shopping at 6 o’clock in the morning?”  Well you’d be surprised. Vanloads of workers would call in the shop for, Cigarettes, Newspaper, Rolls, Milk etc.  We were so popular; I think we used to sell more rolls before 7 a.m. than the bakers across the road sold in the whole day.  This was my perfect job, finish at 2pm, then over to Torvean Golf Course, home for something to eat, a little sleep then down the pub.  One of my jobs in the shop was to serve the school kids at lunchtime. We had the finest selection of penny sweets in the Highlands.  
See how many you remember below: -
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See end of chapter for the answers.
On Sunday 8th February we made our second and unfortunately final movie, again filmed by Andy’s Dad.

The Wimp

Starring, Alister Baldwin, Andrew Sarjeant, Cameron Fraser, Gudge and Brian Fraser

I starred as The Wimp in this classic second movie blockbuster.  I was dressed in a flowery shirt, my hair was slicked back and I’m wearing National Health specs.  The look was completed with a tight pair of shorts and black shoes. Nice hey?  The film was shot on location at McBain Memorial Park near Loch Ness.  I am merrily skipping along the road, smelling a pretty flower, when I encounter a gang of reprobates.  The first person (Gudge) is cocking a rifle, the second (Andy) looks at me and spits on the floor in disgust, the third (Cameron) is flashing a blade in the sunshine and the final person (Brian) is sharpening a stick.  Gudge fires a shot in my direction, which stops me in my tracks.  I gather my composure, turn around and start running away down the hill.  However they soon catch me and proceed to beat and kick me, as I lay helpless on the road.  When I realise I’m not dead I stand up and boy was I angry.  I wrench my tie from side to side, and then set off in search of revenge.  The first person I track down is Brian; he puts up little resistance, as I kick him to death. Next I creep up behind Andy and strangle him with my tie.  I find Cameron and stab him with his own knife; his stomach is a mess of cotton wool and ketchup.  Finally I track down Gudge and beat him to death with a stick.  I raise my arms in the air in triumph.  The moral of this story was “Never mess with WIMPS”.
-----------------------
Most of our spare time was spent in Cameron’s bedroom listening to Heavy Metal and other Rock music.  We would stand there Head-Banging to Def Leppard, Iron Maiden, Blue Oyster Cult, AC/DC, Ozzy Osbourne, Van Halen amongst others.  We would collect loads of albums from record shops in the town.  Not many groups came to play in Inverness, so we had to go to Edinburgh or Glasgow to see a concert.  One experience we did have though is worth a mention.  We were playing football up near the Ice Rink and these guys asked if they could join us.  They said they were in a group and were playing in the Ice Rink bar later that evening.  The name of the band was ‘Marillion’. They went on to become very famous. The first proper concert I went to was in November of this year.  Mum and Dad drove Cameron Andy and me to Linlithgow, to stay with friends.  Then on Sunday 8th November we went to see ‘Rush’ in concert at Ingliston, near Edinburgh.  It was superb.  I think someone said there were 10,000 people there. Mind you it was a bit crushed and loads of people were being taken outside suffering from the heat and exhaustion.  The only song I can remember of Rush is ‘The Spirit of the Radio’. But it was a great gig to go to for your first one.  We all caught the night train home to Inverness. 

There were two weddings in the summer where the groom was called Charles, but that’s where the similarity ends.  On July 29th Prince Charles married Lady Diana Spencer at St. Paul’s Cathedral; on Saturday August 1st my brother Charles (Charlie) married Joanne Bettley at St. Mary’s Church, in Acklam (in the grounds of my old school).  Charlie’s Best Man was Bob Richmond.  Joanne’s sister Gillian was principal bridesmaid.  Fiona was also one of the bridesmaids.  Where Charles and Diana had a lavish wedding, watched by millions, Charlie and Joanne had their reception at the ‘Lord Raglan’ pub in Middlesbrough town centre.  Dad has written that it was poorly organised.  What he meant to say was “It was crap reception, in a crap boozer”.
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    Alister (17), David (24), Fiona (22), Charlie (26)
   Dad, Mum, Charlie, Joanne, Dave, Val, Me, Fiona, Russ

The day after the wedding, we drove home to Inverness, with David and Valerie in the V.W.  We weren’t home for long, as the next day Dave and Val went touring Scotland.  They took me to Oban, where I caught the ferry to Mull, then onto the little Island of Iona, to meet up with Andy, Cameron and Gudge.  They used to spend weeks on end camping on Iona, but I was bored after a couple of days.  Probably because the others had hooked up with some girls and I felt like a gooseberry.  I tried to enjoy myself, but couldn’t, so I rang dad and got him to pick me up after 5 days.
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Dad’s work still took him back to Middlesbrough occasionally. On one occasion we went with him and all stayed at the Wigham's at 4 Thackeray Grove. When we stayed in March 1981, it coincided with Charlotte’s 2nd Birthday.  Dad managed to sneak off, one lunchtime and have a few beers at the Cambridge Hotel with Geoff Wigham and Walter Peckitt, Ann’s dad.  I couldn’t resist the temptation to go to Ayresome Park to see Boro v Wolves in the FA Cup Qtr. Final.  It was an edgy affair in front of a crowd of 36,382.  The game finished 1 – 1, with Terry Cochrane getting Boro’s goal. Boro lost the Replay 3 – 1 at Molineux. Thanks to the phenomenon of the 21st Century (e-bay), I have the programme from this replay.

Wolverhampton Wanderers v Middlesbrough, FA Cup Quarter- Final, replay.  10th March 1981

10th March 1981 was also Budget Day, Sir Geoffrey Howe put 20p on a Gallon of Petrol, taking the price from 134p to 154p per Gallon (4 star). He also put 60p on a bottle of Whisky.  Mum and Dad opened an account for me, with the Provincial Building Society.  They deposited £565, Thank you very much! I’m not quite sure why such a specific amount?  That will keep me in booze and fags for a while.  Only joking, I think it’s one of those accounts where I can’t touch the money until I’m 47 years old.
Her Majesty the Queen and Prince Philip visited Inverness on July 10th.  It must have been to visit the new Presto supermarket that had just opened next to the Mercury Hotel.  We went to see them walk through the town centre.  A few days after her visit to Inverness, the Queen opened the Humber Bridge.  She had a busy year opening bridges, as in November the Queen also opened Dad’s Metro Bridge over the Tyne. Dad wasn’t invited and I sense he was a bit put out by this. She would have opened Kessock Bridge, but in 1981, there was a small bit missing, the middle bit.  Only Evil Knievel would have been able to make it.
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HM the Queen in Inverness

Now we were 17 years old, we started to act like Adults.  Well that’s if you count going to the pub and drinking lots of alcohol, as being an Adult.  Our favourite haunt was a bar called ‘The Courtyard’, which was in the keep of a castle in Lochadil.  We would spend many an hour in there, drinking Cider and McEwans Lager, and eating Prawn Cocktail Square Crisps. We kept ourselves entertained playing a great arcade game, called ‘Lock & Chase’.  It was a lot like ‘Pacman’ and would keep us hooked for hours.  They also had a pool table, to keep us out of mischief.
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Staying on the alcohol theme, in the summer we would meet up on a Thursday afternoon, buy a keg of cider and head down to the River Ness. Andy was seeing a girl called Jenny Allan (bit of a stunner, not quite sure how Andy pulled that one, must have been his basin haircut!), I was sort of seeing Nicki Pieracinni, but it only really amounted to some drunken fumbles after downing copious amounts of Cider. I would supply cigarettes, when possible.  At work if a pack of cigarettes got bashed they couldn’t sell them, so I was allowed to take them.  Its amazing how the less popular brands were prone to damage, your Chesterfield, Camel, Du Maurier, Winston, I forever had to take them for my mates. Back at the river, we would down this cider until we threw up into the river.  One time we thought it would be a good idea to set fire to a gorse bush.  Just one little bush, no harm done, no one needs to know.  Bollocks! It had been a hot dry summer; this one bush fire had turned into ‘The River of Fire’.  As far as the eye could see was a mass of flames.  Of course we did the responsible thing, ran like hell!   We came back the next day and feared the worse. Fortunately it wasn’t too bad; there was an end to the gorse bushes. 


This was the year of ‘BOTHAM’s Test’ at Headingley.  For anyone who likes cricket, this game will stay long in the memory.  At one point on the final day, you could have got odds of 500/1 against England winning the match.  England were still nearly 100 runs behind Australia and 7 wickets down in their 2nd Innings after being forced to follow on.  Then Ian Botham blasted 149 not out as England put on 221 runs for the last 3 wickets.  Dad must have sensed that something amazing was going to happen, as he rang me at work and told me to get home ASAP.  I got the OK from work to leave and raced home on my bike.  I got home in time to see the end of Botham’s magnificent innings and then saw Bob Willis take 8 –43 and see England home by 18 runs.  We used to play a bit of cricket in Cameron’s garden.  The bowler would have a short run up, in the corner of the garden, in a gap in the fence.  If the batsman hit the ball onto the fence at the end or the right side they’d score 4 runs if it hit on the full and 2 runs if it hit the ground first. If the ball went over the fence on the right, you were out; not to mention it might get eaten by Catri’s horse!  A hook shot that successfully cleared the house and ended up in Dores Road was worth 6 runs.  Cam was the master at this game.  He used to keep a proper cricket score book to record the matches.  He would end up with something like 538 for 5 declared and you would be all out for 96. 
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Ian Botham



          Triumph Dolomite
Despite my disastrous attempt at driving a couple of years previous. Where, if you remember I ploughed through next doors front garden, I decide to take proper lessons.  Dad took me out a few times round Industrial Estates in his Maxi, to help me get used to the controls.  Then on November 24th I have my first proper driving lesson with the Triumph School of Motoring.  Some old boy turned up in his Triumph Dolomite.  This could only happen to me, my first Driving Lesson and it’s been snowing hard all day.  As it happens it wasn’t too bad, as I only had to drive to Dores and back.  We’d cycled that route many a time, normally pissed and in the dark on our way home from the Dores Inn.  Maybe I should’ve suggested stopping off during the driving lesson, have a few sherbets in the Dores Inn, turn the headlights off and make my way back to Holm Park.   My main incentive for learning to drive is that I would get to drive the Mini Van at work. If the weather was bad all the paperboys cried off and I was left to do seven paper rounds in 3ft of snow, on my bike. It would also enable us to play Golf courses further a field.  My only friend who drove was Stuart Wright, who had a Mini and had taken us over to the Black Isle to play Golf.                   






On the night of the 12th December the coldest temperature in Britain that century was recorded, -25ºC. Now that is bloody cold.  We knew what Dave & Val have been up to, to stay warm!  David phoned us up on 17th December to announce that Val was pregnant and was expecting a baby next summer.  I’m not sure I was ready for all the responsibility that goes with being an Uncle.  I think it’s very irresponsible to burden a 17-year-old with such worries.  I mean, I was going to have to shell out for Birthday and Christmas presents, I didn’t earn that much you know. I’d have to cope as best I could.

We went on a Christmas Tour of Britain.  Starting on 23rd December we drove from Inverness to Bradford to stay with Charlie and Joanne.  There was deep snow in Bradford, but that's like a little snow flurry to us Highlanders!  The next day we left Bradford and headed for Witney in Oxfordshire, where Fiona and Russ lived.  David and Valarie were also staying there for Christmas.  On Christmas Day we went to the Sergeant’s Mess at RAF Brize Norton for pre-lunch drinks.  On Boxing Day we went to lunch with Grandad and Auntie Barbara at their bungalow in Steeple Aston.  In the evening it was back to the Sergeant’s Mess for Bingo, Fiona, Russ, Dad and I all had wins.  A couple of days later Mum, Dad and Fiona went back to Grandad’s as Julian, Elisabet, Nicholas, Peter and Mary (Elisabet’s mother) were visiting.  I stayed at Brize Norton and played Snooker with Russ. We left Witney on the 30th and drove to Middlesbrough to stay with Ann and Geoff.  I played 5-a-side football with Geoff and his 3 friends, Geoff, Geoff and Jeff.  It was easy for me to shout for the ball, I only had one name to remember.  We finally went home on New Year’s Eve (Hogmanay, as I now knew it) and 7 hours later we were back home in Inverness.  I forgot to mention that Becky the cat was with us all the time.

1981 Facts & Figures

Jan 5th – Lorry driver, Peter Sutcliffe, was charged with murder in connection with the

 Yorkshire Ripper killings. 

Feb 14th – 49 people died in a fire at a St.Valentine’s day disco, at the Stardust Club in Dublin.

March 30th – President Ronald Reagan survived an assassination bid in Washington, by John

 Hinckley III. 

April 4th – Jockey Bob Champion, who had beaten cancer, won the Grand National riding Aldaniti.

May 13th – a gunman in St. Peter’s Square shot Pope John Paul II. He was hit 4 times, but

 survived.

July 4th – Bjorn Borg lost the Wimbledon Men’s Singles title to John McEnroe, in 4 Sets. His 
first defeat since 1975. 

July 29th – 700 million TV viewers watch the wedding of the Prince of Wales and Lady Diana 
Spencer.

Nov – A prototype DeLorean car is unveiled.  However its maker is under investigation.

Deaths

Feb 9th - US Rock Singer, Bill Haley, died aged 53.

March 23rd – Mike Hailwood, British Motorbike champion, killed in a car crash, aged 40.

April 12th   – US boxing legend Joe Louis died aged 66.

May 11th – Bob Marley, Jamaican Reggae Singer, died of cancer, aged 36.

Oct 6th – Egyptian statesman Mohamed Anwar-el-Sadat, was assassinated, died aged 61.

Nov 16th – US actor William Holden died on his 63rd birthday.

Nov 29th – US actress Natalie Wood died aged 43.

Answers to the sweets quiz: -

Top Row - Fizzy Cola Bottles, Milk Teeth, Milk Bottles, Shrimps, Dib Dab, Refresher Bar and Bubbly. 

Second Row - Skull crushers, White Mice, Drumsticks, Fizz Bombs, Pineapple Chunks, Sherbet Pips and Lemon Sherbets. 

Bottom Row - Sweet Peanuts, Flying Saucers, Speckled Jelly Eggs, Candy Necklace, Sherbet Fountain, Traffic Light Lolly and Smooth Cola Bottles.
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         Deelyboppers
         ZX Spectrum
           Boy George           Not the 9 O’clock

It was a really cold and snowy start to the year.  However nothing was going to stop us seeing ‘Black Sabbath’ in concert, in Edinburgh.  On Friday 8th January, I took the day off work. Me, Andy, Cameron and Gudge caught the train from Inverness to Edinburgh.  It was pretty cold, but we had heating on the train, so it was no problem.  The trouble started when we got to Edinburgh.  Black Sabbath, were unable to get through the snow and the concert was cancelled.  We were gutted.  We had psyched ourselves up for this gig and this came as a huge disappointment. We consoled ourselves by visiting ‘THE OTHER RECORD SHOP’. This was a massive second hand record shop that we had frequented on most visits to Edinburgh.  We got there at 6pm, just as the shop was closing.  We pleaded to be let in and explained that we had come all the way from Inverness on a wasted journey.  They said we had half an hour and no longer.  We must have bought 30 albums in that half-hour.  So at least we had something to show from our visit to the Capital. 

We made our way to Waverley Train Station to catch the late train back to Inverness. Unlike the train we caught to Edinburgh, this train had no heating and the temperature had plummeted.  I kid you not it was -20ºC (inside the train).  It was unbelievable. Some of the windows were frozen open.  This called for desperate measures!  What we did was take it in turns to wear all the coats, while the others would run up and down the carriage to keep warm (stay alive). At one point, Cameron and I decided to look out of the window as the train went through a tunnel.  We both pulled our heads in suddenly, because they were nearly knocked off by massive icicles that had formed in the tunnel.  The train finally got to Inverness at 6am.  We were cheering like we were soldiers coming home from war.  However there was one final twist in the tale.  The points were frozen in Inverness and we had to sit there for another hour.  When we got off the train, we realised that we were the only people stupid enough to have taken the journey from Hell.

(On the night I wrote about this, 25th Nov 2005, a train was derailed on the same route, in freezing cold weather, SPOOKY!)
The night after the journey from Hell, I had invited Brenda from the bakers to a meal at the Kingsmills Hotel.  I pretended to fall asleep, blaming the previous night’s escapade on the train. This was a pretty stupid idea, as I didn’t exactly have the girl’s queuing up.  However this was Brenda (Who ate all the Buns) from the bakers!

We were not deterred by this unfortunate escapade and were soon on the road again.  However this time we waited till the weather was a bit warmer.  On 14th March we travelled by train to Glasgow, to see Iron Maiden’ in the ‘Beast on the Road’ tour, at Glasgow Town Hall.  I don’t know why you bother to buy a seat to a Heavy metal concert.  Strictly speaking, you should buy the back of the seat in front of you, as the whole concert is spent gripping this seat and head banging to the music.
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       Eddie ‘The Beast on the Road’
    ‘The Number of the Beast’ Album cover.
1982 saw ‘Britain at War’ with Argentina, over an Island that no one had ever heard of before – The Falklands. It all kicked off on April 2nd, when Argentina invaded and captured the Falkland Islands.  The ‘Islas Malvinas’ (as they liked to call them), are Argentinean, they reckon.  Maggie Thatcher was having none of it though.  She fancied a scrap, so she challenged them to a game of ‘RISK’.  This failed because Egypt and North Africa didn’t really fancy being invaded by a load of Blue triangles, just so Britain could get into South America.  So she decided to play ‘BATTLESHIPS’ and sent every last Navy ship we had to the South Atlantic.  On May 2nd we sank their ship ‘General Belgrano’, which resulted in all out war.

Two days later, May 4th 1982 was my 18th Birthday, but it turned out to be one of the most shameful episodes of my life.  I was in ‘The Courtyard’, with friends, including Cameron Fraser, Andy Sarjeant, Gudge, and Alan Bremner.  I was giving it the large to the barman, about being 18 today and the fact that I’d been going in the pub for over a year.  I managed to get completed wasted and remember knocking over a table full of empty glasses.  That’s not the shameful bit though. That’s standard behaviour for someone who’s downed 8 pints of Strongbow.  The shameful bit is when they interrupted all programs on the TV, to announce that, an Exocet missile had sunk the ‘HMS Sheffield’.  Everyone was very quiet and sombre, but I was cheering and shouting, punching the air.  In my defence I didn’t have a clue what was going on.  On the weekend before my birthday Mum and Dad went away to Bristol, so it was party time!  I don’t remember much about the party, except for snogging Jules Dormer (who was Andy’s girlfriend at the time).  Oops! I’m sure he’ll forgive me after all this time. 
It was World Cup year and England, Scotland and Northern Ireland had qualified for Spain 82’.
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Of course being a Sassenach (n .Scot. English Person) during World Cup time didn’t make me the most popular person in the World.  So the pressure was on England to deliver the goods and save me being ridiculed by a bunch of “Sweaty’s”.  We were round at Jules’ house for England’s first game against France.  My fears were alleviated after just 27 seconds, when Bryan Robson shot England into the lead.  They never looked back and went on to win 3 – 1. 

For Scotland there were mixed fortunes. They got off to a flier, beating New Zealand 5 – 2.  In the pub they had these Scratch cards for the World Cup, where you could win £1,000.  On this night I scratched off 5 – 2 to Scotland, but you had to get both games that evening, correct.  On the other game I scratched off 8 – 1 to Hungary v El Salvador. The game finished 10 – 1, how unlucky can you get? Scotland then had to play Brazil and even had the audacity to take the lead in the 18th minute courtesy of a long range effort by David Narey.   However they ended up losing 4 – 1.  The Soviet Union also beat NZ and lost to Brazil, but they went into the game with Scotland knowing that a draw would see them through.  ‘The Courtyard’ was packed and it erupted in the 15th minute when Steve Archibald passed for Joe Jordan to score.  Scotland held this lead until half-time and the atmosphere was one of happiness, as everyone refilled their glasses during the half-time interval.  This was all about to change.  The Soviets equalised in the 59th minute, then, took the lead in the 84th minute.  It was at this point that I suggested a game of pool.  This was greeted with a chorus of “Piss off, ya Sassenach bastard”.  I took this as a No!  Scotland did manage to equalise in the 87th minute with a goal from Graeme Souness, but it was too little, too late. Shame! 

Of all the Home Nations, it was Northern Ireland who fared the best.  After drawing with Yugoslavia and Honduras, NI had a memorable win over the host nation Spain, courtesy of a Gerry Armstrong goal. They also uncovered a Star.  17- year old Norman Whiteside announced himself on the World stage.  

This was a great World Cup, which ended with Italy beating West Germany 3 – 1 in the Final, in front of 90,000 fans in the Estadio Santiago Bernabeu (Real Madrid’s Ground). 

However, perhaps one of the most memorable games in World Cup history was the Semi-Final between West Germany and France. Patrick Battiston had come on as a 50th minute substitute, then shortly after he found himself clean through with only goalkeeper Harald Schumacher to beat.  Schumacher came charging out of his area and cynically took out Battiston. There could only be one outcome, RED.  To everyone’s amazement the Referee saw nothing wrong with the challenge.  West Germany went on to win 5 – 4 on penalties, after the game had finished 3 – 3 after Extra Time. 

I had a very difficult decision to make in this year, as the Kessock Bridge was nearly finished and Dad had accepted a job in Hong Kong, working on the new Headquarters of the Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corp (HSBC). This meant my stay in Inverness could be at an end.   I could go with Mum and Dad, but I didn’t like Chinese Food.  Jim & Freda, my bosses had said that I could live with them, but I didn’t like Haggis. Another option was to move back to Middlesbrough, as Ann & Geoff had said that I could lodge with them.  I loved living in Inverness, but all my mates were off at University, so I decided on a change of direction and opted to move back to Middlesbrough after 3 years away.  I had decided to become a Student (leech on society).  Dad asked Ann to check out courses at Kirby College for me.

Kessock Bridge opened to traffic at 05.50 hrs on Monday July 18th 1982.  Dad let me drive over the bridge, even though I hadn’t passed my driving test.  My 2nd driving test was only a week away, and then hopefully I’d be able to drive over the bridge and anywhere else, on my own.  The night before my test, Mum was really ill; she was hyperglycemic and lost the use of her left arm, leg & side of mouth.  Dr. Ian Smith came and sent her to Raigmore Hospital.  Obviously not the best preparation for my Driving Test, but I still sat it and thought I did OK.  Fully expecting to be told that I’d passed, the words “You’ve FAILED” were devastating.  I demanded to know why I’d failed and was told it was for not taking due care coming out of a junction.  Bollocks, I’ll tell you what happened. -   I was waiting to turn left into the main road and a car on the main road had slowed down and indicated to turn right.  So I’ve pulled out and at that point the car decides not to turn right, meaning they have to let me go in front of them.  What could I do?  I’ll tell how annoyed I was, I never drove a car again for 7 years!  What was the point I was never going to pass the test.
Kessock Bridge
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The bridge was officially opened on August 6th by HRH Queen Elisabeth the Queen Mother.  Dad met her and introduced her to his team.  It was like Dad was the Captain of a team in the F.A. Cup Final, quite a proud moment for the Baldwin Family. 
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                      Dad and the Queen Mother       

Me looking cool and sophisticated

On June 12th my Boss in the shop, Keith Orrock, got married to a girl called Ann.  I went to the reception, at the Mercury Hotel, with Nicola Pieracinni as my date for the evening.  I think the Mercury Hotel must’ve been the place to go in town, as I was back there the following month.  Jim and Freda had two hot French chicks staying with them, Carole and Fabienne.  I thought I’d show them how cool and sophisticated I was, by taking them to an over 18’s disco.  We got there and the French girls (who were 16 years old) were waved in, while I had a bouncers arm thrust in front of me. “Got any proof of age?”  How embarrassing, they were probably thinking “What a loser”.  Fortunately Dad was still there and he went home and got my passport, but the damage was done.  The following day I said to Mum that I was going to play golf, but she kept saying “Don’t go out today, it might rain”.  It was July 31st and not a cloud in the sky.  Anyway I decided to not go out and went into the back garden.  I noticed that Jim & Freda were having a BBQ and seemed to have a lot of people round.  I decided to be nosey and looked through the fence.  They had invited everyone from work (Keith & Ann, Mrs. Mackie, Mrs. ‘d’ya ken’ MacLean and Jim & Freda of course) except me and I was the one who’d just… ah…I get it. This was a surprise leaving party for me.  When mum realised that I’d cottoned on, her and Dad took me next door for my party. I got some headphones as a leaving present. I didn’t realise I was so popular! 

On 22nd August 1982 my first nephew was born.  Steven Richard Baldwin was born to Valerie and David at the Queen Elizabeth Hospital in Woolwich at approx. 6 pm.  It turned out that Steven wasn’t my only nephew/niece who was going to be born in 1982.  At the beginning of August Fiona had gone to the doctor about a pain in her kidneys and found out that she was 22 weeks pregnant!  

As I mentioned earlier, Dad has landed a job in Hong Kong, but Mum and Dad wanted to buy a house to come back to when they’d finished in HK.  As Dave was in the Army and based in Woolwich, they decided to buy a house near there, so that Dave, Val and Steven could live in the house that Mum and Dad bought.  They were buying No. 19 Coppelia Road, in Blackheath, but couldn’t wait so they offered £39,500 for No 4. Coppelia Road, which was accepted. 
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         “You just leave me, I’ll be OK”   Becky the Cat
   We’re in the Army now, Dave


We left Inverness on the 4th September after 3 great years living there. We left Becky the cat, to live with Jim & Freda.  She’d be alright living on a diet of Fresh Salmon and Trout.  Our first destination was 4 Thackeray Grove, Middlesbrough, my new home. This was only for a few days, as Dad was starting work on the HK Shanghai Bank job (in Middlesbrough, bizarrely).  We then headed for London to see Steven for the first time.   We took him to Greenwich Park.  Why?  He’s two weeks old, what’s he going to do in the Park? Play football?  NO.  Go on the swings?  NO.  Fly a Kite? NO.   We might as well have stayed at home and locked him in a bedroom, so at least we could hear the TV.  As usual went on a mini tour of Britain.  We drove to Witney, in Oxfordshire, to stay with Fiona & Russ.  Then the next day we all went over to Steeple Aston to see Grandad and Auntie Barbara.  Dad took me into Oxford to do the tourist bit and we also went to The Cotswold Wildlife Park, at Burford.  After all this fun, the time had come to go off and be a student. On the 15th September I caught the train from Oxford to Middlesbrough, while Mum and Dad continued on their travels, staying with all and sundry.  Well if you think about it, strictly speaking they were of ‘No fixed abode’.

The Student years

So the student years began back in Middlesbrough.  I was living with Ann and Geoff, who have two little angels, Kate (6) and Charlotte (3).  I had my own room, with a bed, desk and a Black & White TV, where the picture rolled over all the time.  So I made my way down to Kirby College on Roman Road, to enrol for some serious study.  The first year I decided to do some ‘O’ levels (like GCSE’s except 10 times harder).  I had to choose four subjects, one from each pot of subjects.  The first subject I choose was Computer Studies could be useful as Geoff’s had just bought a ZX Spectrum.  Next I chose Economics, then Accounts, then; I’m not left with much choice for my final subject.  I might have been useless at school, but I did get Maths, English and Arithmetic.  This left me with just Integrated Humanities.  What’s that when it’s at home?  I didn’t really know, but you didn’t have to do an exam, so it would do for me.

College was just like school really, except not everyone’s the same age, you can go to the pub and the girl’s breasts are bigger.  One good thing was that we got to play Basketball twice a week and it was a chance to meet people (Girl’s) doing other courses.  There was this one girl in particular that I’d made a bit of eye contact with and also noticed that she lived on my route home.  What I decided to do was to accidentally on purpose leave for home at exactly the same time as her.  “Hi how you doing, did you enjoy the Basketball?”  “Yes. Bye”.  The trouble was she only lived about 2 minutes walk from the College.  I think I found out her name at the fifth time of walking.  Her name was Catherine and I decided that I was going to ask her out, but I had to find the right moment.  That moment never came, in the end I had to ask one of my friends to ask one of her friends to ask her, “My friend fancies your friend”, scenario.  However she accepted without hesitation and I was delighted.

For our first date we went to ‘Madison’ Nightclub in Middlesbrough town centre.  Plenty of dancing and snogging, this Student life was definitely for me.  I got invited round her house to meet the parents.  Her Mum’s was alright and we sat and had a chat, while watching this new band on Top of The Pops, their name was ‘Culture Club’ and their lead singer looked a bit weird.  Talking of weird, I was about to meet her Dad.  “Hello.” He said, as he crushed my hand, but I pretend it didn’t hurt.  He was a cross between Lurch and Hermann Munster and my fears weren’t alleviated when Catherine told me that he goes a bit strange when there’s a Full Moon!  Why wait for a Full Moon, this blokes bought the T-Shirt!  Undeterred Catherine and I were going steady and would usually go to Ann & Geoff’s to be together, especially on Full Moons.  Everything was going fine until we decided to go one step further in our relationship.  One night of passion (well one minute, would be closer the mark) ruined everything.  She freaked and didn’t want anything to do with me.  Despite getting back together a few weeks later, it wasn’t the same and we split up for good.  Catherine quit her course after she was offered a nursing place at St. Mary’s Hospital in Paddington.   People always said that she looked like Barbara Streisand, see what you think:-
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                         Barbara Streisand



                   Catherine 

I surprised myself by actually doing quite well at College.  I suppose I saw it as a second chance to make something of myself.  However there was one subject that I was struggling with, Economics.  After trying for a couple of months, I finally succumbed and in a frustrated rage I flung my file round my room.  I felt much better afterwards.  I even become quite attached to my rolling Black & White TV, especially when a new TV Channel was launched on the 2nd November.  Months of effort and thousands of pounds spent thinking of a name and what did they call it?

CHANNEL
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From the start, the channel set out to provide an alternative to the existing channels. In doing so it sometimes, in the eyes of its critics (including the public decency campaigner Mary Whitehouse), overstepped the boundaries of acceptability, but it has arguably led to a liberalisation of the UK television industry. Programming such as the "red triangle" series, The Tube, and Network 7 often straddled the boundary between being pioneering and being tasteless. It started off with a Word Quiz called Countdown (That’ll never catch on), then on the first evening a new Soap Opera called Brookside, set in Liverpool. 

If you thought that me splitting up with Catherine would put me off the girls at College, think again.  I remember asking Bernie (no, I’ve not gone gay, Bernadette!), an Irish girl who was studying with me, if she wanted to go to the Cinema to watch the latest Steven Spielberg film, ET, Extra Terrestrial.  I don’t know if they taught girls to kiss differently in Ireland, but all I can say was she was an amazing kisser.  When I say amazing, I don’t mean 9 out of 10 amazing, I mean eat you for breakfast amazing!  I had lock-jaw for a week afterwards.  I hoped I’d get the chance to snog an Irish girl again. However the highlight of the year was on the last day of College before Christmas.  Everyone who was anyone would be in the ‘Linney’ (Linthorpe Hotel) getting drunk.  There was another girl I knew from Basketball that I really fancied, her name was Marie.  I knew Marie had a boyfriend but when I saw her sitting in the ‘Linney’ with her friends, I couldn’t help myself, I went over, sat beside her and started snogging her in front of everyone.  It just seemed the right thing to do.  Outside I declared my undying love for her, but when she said she didn’t want to leave her boyfriend, I thought forget it and moved onto my next conquest.  

Mum and Dad finally moved into 4 Coppelia Road on 21st October.  I thought they were going to Hong Kong?  By the end of 1982 they still weren’t showing any signs of going.  Mind you Dad did go out there for a couple of weeks in late October, early November.  In the half term holiday I travelled down from Middlesbrough to stay in Blackheath.  During my stay I went to see Charlton play Luton in the League Cup at the Valley.  Despite 2 goals from Paul Walsh, Charlton couldn’t overturn a 3 – 0 deficit from the 1st leg.

On the 10th December it was Grandad’s 80th Birthday.  I couldn’t make the party, as I was studying hard. Yeah likely! 

This next bit is for people, probably family members, who are more interested in seeing a list of people, rather than wade through page after page about me snogging Irish, Scottish, English and daughter of Werewolf girls.  Grandad’s party was held on Sunday 12th December at Julian and Elisabet’s house in Maidenhead.

Those Present:-

Grandad, Auntie Barbara, Mabs, Michael & Betty Barker, Lewis & Yvonne Barker, Richard & Mavis Baldwin, Stuart & Pam Baldwin, Julian & Elisabet Baldwin, Nick & Peter Baldwin.    
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           Grandad c1982



         Family member’s c1982

There’s one more major event to finish off 1982.  My second Nephew, James (Jamie) Alexander Stenhouse, was born to Fiona & Russ at John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford.  Jamie was born on Christmas Eve, which was a right result.  I’d easily get away with buying him just one present for Birthday and Christmas. 

Hotel Baldwin had relocated from Inverness to Blackheath.  Charlie & Joanne come to stay for Christmas, along with me, Dave & Val and Mum & Dad.  On the 26th December, we all went down to Oxford to see Jamie. He was lovely, ugh!  I’m not sure if we knew it at the time but my third nephew was cooking, Joanne was about 3 months pregnant by the end of the year. Back in London the following day, I went with Charlie to see Arsenal v Tottenham at Highbury.  This was pre Taylor Report years, so you’ve got 50,000 fans crammed into a 40,000 capacity. It was quite scary, especially when Arsenal scored (twice) and everyone surged forward in a wave.  I loved football.

1982 Facts & Figures

Jan 4th – Erica Roe gets her top off and streaks across the pitch at Twickenham. 

 Jan 26th – Unemployment in Britain over 3 million, for the first time since the 1930’s.

March 4th – The Barbican Centre opened after 11 years of building.

April 2nd – Argentina invaded and captured the Falkland Islands.

May 4th – My 18th Birthday, HMS Sheffield sunk in the Falklands. 

May 29th – Pope John Paul II became the first Pope to visit Britain since 1531.

June 14th – Argentina surrendered to British troops, in the Falklands.

June 21st – Prince William was born at St. Mary’s Hospital in Paddington.

July 7th – The Queen woke to find an intruder, Michael Fagan, sitting on her bed.

July 20th – Two IRA attacks in London.  A car bomb in Hyde Park killed two guardsmen and

 seven horses. Then another bomb under the bandstand in Regent’s Park killed six
 
 soldiers and injured 24.

Nov 2nd – Channel 4 goes on air.

Hits of the year – Come on Eileen, Fame, and Eye of the Tiger.

Deaths

August 12th – Henry Fonda, US Actor, died aged 77.

August 29th – Ingrid Bergman, Swedish Actress, died of Cancer on her 67th birthday. 

Sept 5th – Sir Douglas Bader, British airman Group Captain, died aged 72.

Sept 14th – Princess Grace of Monaco (Grace Kelly) died after her car plunged 120 feet off a 
mountain road. Aged 52.

Nov 10th – Leonid Brezhnev, Soviet President 1964 - 1982, died aged 75.

Nov 16th – Arthur Askey, British comedian, died aged 82.
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Blockbusters
        Matey
         My little pony                   CD’s

Blackadder

I returned by train from spending New Year in Inverness to Blackheath on the 4th January.  Just in time for Fiona’s wedding. 

Fiona married Sgt. Thomas Russell Stenhouse (Russ) on the 8th January.  Remember that Fiona had only just had a baby two weeks before.  Aren’t you supposed to do it the other way round?  The wedding was at RAF Brize Norton and the reception at a social centre in Carterton.  I decided to give myself a haircut on the morning of the wedding. It was nothing too drastic, just a little trim on the fringe.  The first attempt wasn’t quite even.  By the 5th attempt I looked like Jim Carrey in ‘Dumb and Dumber’.  Great for the Photos!
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               The ‘Baldwin Mafia’ - Grandad, Charlie, Dad, me and Dave, at Fiona’s wedding 



During the Wedding reception I was more interested in sneaking into the bar, to see if Keith Deller could win the Embassy World Darts Final.  Deller's victory over Eric Bristow in the tournament by 6 sets to 5 was probably the biggest upset in the history of the championship. He also beat world number 3, John Lowe in the quarter finals and defending champion and world number 2, Jocky Wilson in the semi-final to become the only player in history to defeat the world's top three ranked players in the World Championship. The champion's prize money in 1983 was £8,000.

His checkout of 138 to clinch the trophy is amongst the most memorable in darting history. Bristow had left himself 50 to stay in the match, but decided to throw for single 18 to leave double 16 instead of a more difficult attempt at the Bullseye. Deller then hit treble 20, treble 18, double 12 for the title and even to this day commentators often refer to 138 as the "Deller checkout" if a player is left with that score.

The day after the wedding we drove to Middlesbrough.  When I say we, I mean Charlie, Joanne and myself.  As it turned out Dad was actually due in Middlesbrough two days later, to check on some steelwork going to Hong Kong.  Dad stayed with me at the Wighams, and then left the following day to go to London or as Dad puts it in his diary, “I took leave of the Wighams and Alister”.  That was the second time he’d used that expression on the same page.  I’m from good stock, INNIT!

Mum and Dad finally left for Hong Kong on Sunday 16th January 1983, catching the Cathay Pacific Boeing 747 flight CX200 from Gatwick Airport.  Auntie Vi met them at Kai Tak Airport and Mum and Dad booked into the Excelsior Hotel.  Typical of our family, wherever we go someone seems to live there.  Uncle Doug arrived a few days later, having been on a nine day trip to Bristol.  The first few weeks were spent trying to find somewhere to live, but they eventually found a flat just round the corner from Vi and Doug.  On the 10th February, they moved out of the Excelsior Hotel into, Flat B4, Fairyland Gardens, 8 Broadcast Drive, Kowloon Tong.

Back home, Dave, Val and Steven, moved into 4 Coppelia Road, Blackheath.  It made sense as Dave was in the Army based at Woolwich and they lived in Army quarters (high rise block of flats).  Strictly speaking this was also my fixed abode, but I’d never actually lived there.   Before they went to HK, Dad transferred ownership of his VW Caravette (EDC 788K) to Russ. Gutted!  I wanted that.  Russ would probably just sell it, whereas, I would’ve been the coolest student ever, with my own Camper van.  As I saw on a sticker the other day,” Sell my Camper, I’d rather shove wasps up my arse”

So here I am, back at Kirby College, all alone, abandoned by my parents at 18 years old, wicked! 

Things were going well at College.  I’d dropped out of Economics, but doing OK in ‘O’ level Accounts and Computer Studies.   I was never any good at exams at school, but I was feeling confident this time.  I did actually do another ‘O’ Level (Integrated Humanities), but luckily there was no exam in this one.  This fitted in well with my new ethos of ‘Study Hard, Play Hard’.  This new found confidence wasn’t misplaced, as when I opened my results I got a Grade B in Computer Studies and in Accounts I got Grade A!!  Yes that’s right, Grade A, Mr. Under-achiever had finally joined the party, aged 19.  

I suppose I should’ve studied more subjects, but I found a new Hobby which was going to take up a lot of my time and energy.  The Middlesbrough Evening Gazette advertised a Half Marathon that they were sponsoring.  It was taking place in May, so that gave me plenty of time to get fit and train for a 13.3 mile slog.  
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My Training Route

I devised my own training route, which I think was about 5/6 miles long.  

Start – Thackeray Grove 
Emerson Ave – Keith Road – Marton Road   


Marton Road - Stewarts Park Corner
 

Ladgate Lane – Acklam Road


Acklam Road – Green Lane


Green Lane - Thackeray Grove


I would run this route religiously, normally after college, before my dinner.  After a few weeks the weight was falling off and I was getting faster and faster.  I also had one of those spring loaded exercise machines, you know, the one where you put your feet into stirrups and pull the springs up to your chin using the handles. To complete my mini gym I had a Chest Expander.  

I’d made friends with the lad who was studying with me. Don’t get me wrong, I had lots of friends, but Andrew Bage introduced me to some of the finer things in life.  Namely, Gambling and Video Cassette Recorders!  His family had just taken delivery of a brand new, non-slim line, top loading, Betamax Video Cassette Recorder.  They had to take off a couple of doors to get it in the house!  Not really, I just said that to emphasise how huge anything was, you bought in the early Eighties.  
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SANYO MODEL VCR-4400 II BETA BETAMAX VCR Circa 1982-83
We would rent out the latest releases, which in 1983 included ‘Return of the Jedi’, ‘National Lampoons Vacation’ and ‘Risky Business’.   The only problem was in 1983, it cost about £3 to rent the film and each film came with a WARNING!  Should you return the cassette damaged in any way (which was very likely) you will be liable for the cost of replacing the master copy, £75. Put it this way, you took as much care loading and unloading that cassette, as a Heart Surgeon performing a triple bypass operation.  Mind you if you were unfortunate enough to damage the tape, you’d take it back and say it came like that.  How can they prove it?

Andrew had a New Romantic haircut, but he couldn’t quite pull it off, as he a bit fat and a bit spotty.  He basically had his hair streaked blond, with a severe wedge cut on one side and a long fringe that went over one eye, on the other side.  This meant that he was constantly flicking his hair to see where he was going.

As I mentioned earlier Andrew was responsible for getting me into gambling.  I’d never been brave enough to go into bookies on my own, but with someone to show me the ropes, I was soon hooked.  In those days you didn’t have loads of TV screens telling the odds and the movement in the market. Someone would stand up the front with a big bit of paper, showing all the runners in that race. They would listen to the radio and change the odds accordingly.  I don’t know why I’m telling you this, as I was never interested in Horse Racing, it was the Fixed odds Football coupons that I was interested in.  For just 50p you could win untold amounts of money just predicting a few football results.  The day you start betting on football is the day your outlook on the game changes.  Say you were at the Boro game and they were losing, in the past you’d be inconsolable for a few days, if they lost.  However now you couldn’t care less if they were losing, you’d be too busy finding someone with a transistor radio in the crowd, to see if Shrewsbury were beating Bournemouth and Luton were drawing with Watford.  You would never bet on your own team though, because if you bet on them to Win, you’d feel you’d jinxed them if they didn’t and you wouldn’t bet on them to lose because you didn’t want them to lose.

When Andrew heard that I was doing the half marathon he decided to sign up as well.  I had my reservations, as he wasn’t exactly an athlete and I was training to run the race quite fast. Also we wouldn’t be able to do much training together, as I lived in Linthorpe and he lived in Guisborough, which was a small Market Town just outside Middlesbrough. Anyway I took his word for it and come the big day of the race, in my mind we were going to burn up the field.  Race day was a beautiful sunny day, but there was a warning of some showers.  The race actually started on Stockton Race Course.  The going was good to Firm, but I still didn’t fancy jumping those fences!  Then about 5 minutes before the start, it suddenly went pitch black and the heavens opened.  I don’t just mean rain; this was a Hail Storm from Hell.  There was nowhere to hide from what felt like Golf balls coming out of the sky.  So in just a few minutes the going had gone from good to Firm, to Heavy.  I suppose one good thing was it cooled us all down, almost to the point of hypothermia.  So the race started and the first half mile or so was on the racecourse, then it was out on the streets.  I took it easy to start with and ran with Andrew, but soon realised that our training regimes weren’t quite in tandem.  To put it bluntly he was knackered by the time we got off the Racecourse.  However as he was a mate I didn’t want to just leave him to run alone.  For the first few miles we were near the back of the field and I kept asking Andrew if he really wanted to keep going, just waiting for him to say “No, I’ve had enough, you go on without me”.  Finally after about six miles he gave me the green light to go on without him. I was like a greyhound coming out of the traps.  I kid you not, there were about 3,500 people in this race and we were near the back at half way.  What was to follow was one of the most exhilarating experiences of my life.   In the remaining 6/7 miles, I overtook in the region of 3,000 people and managed a sprint finish to see off some kid who wanted to race me.  I eventually finished 333rd in a time of 1 hour 40 minutes.  To put that into context, that’s the equivalent of running four 5km races, one after the other, in an average time of approx. 22 mins.  This was however to be the pinnacle of my athletic career, it was all downhill from that moment on. 
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Hong Kong (Revisited)

I say revisited, because you may recall, despite not being well travelled, I’d been to Hong Kong before in 1980.  However this time I was travelling on my own.  In view of the fact that I was a Full Time student (Tax dodger), Ove Arup had kindly offered to pay for my flight and Mum and Dad already live there.  So basically it was a 2 month free holiday in Hong Kong.  You’d be stupid not to!

Sunday 26th June - I caught the British Airways flight BA003 from Heathrow to Hong Kong, via Bombay.  When we stopped in Bombay, we had about an hour to stretch our legs, and do a bit of shopping in the Airport.  It was only about 6 am, but it felt like a Sauna.  While I was at Bombay Airport, a very attractive, young Australian girl, travelling alone, started chatting to me.  While she was talking, I subconsciously put two options in my head.  Option 1: Ask her if she wants to spend two months with me in HK and then the rest of her life. Option 2: Avoid eye contact with her for the rest of the journey.  Don’t ask for her phone number and never see her again.  I went for Option 2; it was easier and probably less expensive in the long run.  By the way I bought a wooden Indian Elephant while I was in Bombay.

Monday 27th June - Mum and Dad met me at Kai Tak Airport, not before I’d been quizzed by the Customs as to why I wasn’t booked into a Hotel.  “Excuse me, my parents live here”.  Why would I want to stay in a Hotel?  “No Hotel, no come in.”  Eventually the penny dropped and I was allowed in to Hong Kong.  It was good to see Mum and Dad after all this time.

Tuesday 28th June – After resting for a day to recover from the flight, I had my first venture out.  I went with Mum and Auntie Vi to visit Dad’s office and then we all went to lunch at Maxim’s in Prince’s Building.  I later went on the Peak Tram and walked round the Peak.

Saturday 2nd July – We went out in the car to Silverstrand, where Dad and I went for a swim. Then we drove to Clearwater Bay and other points on the Sai Kung peninsular.

Sunday 3rd July – I stayed up till the early hours to watch John McEnroe beat Chris Lewis in the Men’s Singles Final at Wimbledon.  As I was watching I noticed this movement behind the TV.  It turned out to be an Army of Cockroaches marching around the room.  It was at this point that I realised that you’re best not thinking about what’s crawling around the room at night.

Tuesday 5th July – Mum had a hysterectomy operation at the Matilda Hospital.  

Friday 8th July - Dad bought me a Seiko Gents watch from Favourite Jewellers. Thanks Dad!  Later that day I went on the Tram to Causeway Bay and visited Tiger Balm Gardens.  In the evening I met up with Mark Anderson, the son of Dad’s work colleague. We went 10 Pin bowling at the S.C.A.A. Club, with some of his friends.

Saturday 9th July – Mum still in Hospital.  I went out again with Mark to Ocean Park.  

Tuesday 12th July – Mum came home from Hospital.

Wednesday 13th July – I’m not sure if I’d mentioned to Mum and Dad that I’d invited Andrew Bage to come and stay.  Well with great timing (what with Mum just coming out of Hospital) he arrived today.  I’d invited him, fully expecting him to say that he couldn’t afford it, but I think his Nan stumped up the cash.  In a way it’s good though, as I now had someone to share the Hong Kong experience with.  

Thursday 14th July – Andrew and myself met up with Chue Yang Ping (don’t actually remember who he/she is!) and went to see the latest James Bond film ‘Octopussy’.  All the films at the Cinemas in Hong Kong had untold subtitles covering the screen.  It wasn’t too bad if the film was in English, as you just had Chinese writing to contend with.  However, lets just say you’ve told your parents you’re off to see ‘Flashdance’, but are really going to see an Italian soft Porn movie (as if I would). Then you’d have the film in Italian, with Chinese, English and Italian subtitles (allegedly).  “Hi Al, how was Flashdance?”  “Great thanks, it was full of dancing, most of it quite flash”.  I’ve still never seen that film.

Saturday 23rd July – Dad has written in his diary that Alister and Andrew went bowling with Mark Anderson and stayed the night with him.  Both of these statements are true, but it’s the bit in the middle that’s missing!  We met up in the ‘Bull and Bear’, which claimed to be Hong Kong’s oldest British Style pub.  It was in the heart of the financial district, so it was full of City types and a fair number of Brits.  After going bowling we’d moved on to a Nightclub.  The US Marines were in town and in our club.  It was full of blokes in white suits fighting each other over the numerous ladies of ill repute.  One of these Ladies took a shine to Andrew.  She sat on his knee, and then asked him how old he was.  Before he could answer she decided he was 15!  Any feelings that were growing towards this woman were extinguished in a split second. After leaving the Nightclub in the early hours, we caught a cab to Mark’s flat.  I don’t know if the driver was in a hurry to get home, but he raced round the winding hillside roads like he was in a Rally.  We stayed up till dawn drinking and talking.  When it was light I noticed the spectacular view over looking the Golf course at Deep Water Bay.  
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Thursday 28th July – We had a day out on the Ove Arup Junk (Chinese type boat) ‘Hunk-A-Junk’.  We went to Lamma Island and swam in the sea. Also, had a go at windsurfing, but that was bloody difficult, especially in a secluded bay, sheltered from the wind.  Andy and I took turns getting on the board, balancing for a few seconds and then toppling off the other side.  We returned to Aberdeen (not the Scottish one) via Stanley and Repulse Bay.


Monday 1st August – Andy and I would often travel to visit Repulse Bay. Contrary to its name it was it was a beautiful bay located in the southern part of Hong Kong Island, the most spectacular bay in the region. Its name comes from a 19th century battle in which the British army repulsed attacking pirates. There was even a McDonalds on the beach.  How cool is that?  There was a Pirate type ship moored out at sea and floating platforms you could swim out to.  We would leave our clothes and bag on the beach and swim to the platforms, avoiding large numbers of Jellyfish on the way.  What happened this day was both distressing and hilarious at the same time.  When we returned to the beach from our swim, we discovered that Andy’s bag had gone missing.  It contained all his clothes, money and Camera.  We found a policeman and reported the crime, but didn’t hold out much hope of ever seeing Andy’s belongings again.  This is the hilarious bit.  All Andy had to wear were his trunks and a towel.  We decided to travel to my Dad’s site office, which was in the heart of the Financial District.  Imagine someone traveling on a packed Underground train, in the City of London, wearing just their swimming trunks. I was helpless with laughter despite Andy’s plight.  The ironic thing is that when we got home, the Police phoned to say that someone had handed in the bag, they’d picked it up by mistake!  Thinking back I could’ve bought him a T-Shirt, but that would’ve ruined the experience. 

Sunday 7th August – Andrew and I met up with some Chinese friends of ours from Kirby College.  They took us to a proper Chinese restaurant.  When I say proper, I mean chicken feet, Pigs trotters and other unmentionable things hanging from the ceiling.  I decided to be adventurous and had plain rice and Lager (not mixed together of course).  Andy went that step further (too far) and tried some Dim Sum.  They were like small dumplings, but god knows what’s in them.  As you didn’t have a Knife and Fork you felt obliged to pick them up with your chopsticks and eat them whole. He put one in his mouth and suddenly had a very worried expression on his face.  The next thing we knew the contents of this Dim Sum were spat out across the table.  I think we’ll stick to McDonalds in future.   
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            Dad, Mum and Me on board ‘Hunk-A-Junk’


Wednesday 17th August – Andrew flew home from Hong Kong to England after staying for 5 weeks.  

Friday 19th August – We had a meal with Vi and Doug and then went to Kai Tak to fly Cathay Pacific CX201 to Bahrain, departing HK at 23.05hrs.  We had a three hour wait in Bahrain, so me, Mum and Dad played cards.  When we arrived at Gatwick, we caught the train to Victoria, where David met us in his car.  I’d come home for good and Mum and Dad were staying for a month.

Just before I went to Hong Kong my third nephew was born.  On 23rd June Charlie and Joanne had an 8lb baby boy and called him John Richard Baldwin.  Hang on, there was a bit of a theme going on here. My first nephew is called Steven Richard, now John Richard, dad’s called Richard, his dad is called Cliff Richard (no, not the singer) and his dad was called Richard.  Oh, I almost forgot my Charlie is called Charles Richard.  So why was I called Alister James?  Shouldn’t I be Alister Richard or Little Richard, or Richard the Lion heart? Even my sister was called Fiona Richard!  No she wasn’t, but it’d be funny if she was.

After coming back from Hong Kong, I went to Middlesbrough for a couple of weeks, mainly to sort out what I was going to do next at Kirby College.  I went to an open day and signed up for a 2 year course – BTEC Diploma in Business Studies.  Meanwhile, Mum and Dad were busy rushing round visiting as many people as they possibly could.  This included their three grandsons, Steven, Jamie and John.  They were seeing John for the first time, so they stayed with Charlie and Joanne for a few days in Otley.  On September 1st they finally made it to Middlesbrough.  They picked me up from Ann and Geoff’s, and then we drove to Blackheath.  While Mum and Dad were staying in Otley, they’d booked up a week’s holiday on the Thames.  

The boat we’d hired was like a giant floating Ice cream tub.  The crew aboard the ‘Abingdon Cavalier’ was, Richard & Mavis, David & Valerie, Russ & Fiona, Alister, Jamie and Steven (not that they were going to be any help on a boat).  We started in Abingdon and headed up river.  We made it as far as Oxford, where we stopped and went round the city.  Later in the week we went down river and made it as far as Henley.  While in Henley, Julian, Elisabet, Nick & Peter came to visit us, as they lived nearby in Maidenhead. After spending a week cruising up and down the Thames we returned the boat to Red Line Cruisers, in Abingdon (3 hours late). 
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         On board the ‘Abingdon Cavalier’


           Captain Steven Baldwin
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            Fiona, Mum, Steven and Jamie



       Me and Steven
One thing I took away with me from the boating holiday was a nice boil in my nose.  I don’t know what it was but something in the river water, gave me this nasty infection in my nose.  I’m not the sort to just leave it alone and let nature take its course.  I was squeezing it, poking it, picking it.  All this achieved was to make it bigger, redder and more painful.  Eventually I went to the doctors.  Normally I’d need to be dying, before visiting the doctors (I think I might go if I lost a limb!) but desperate times called for desperate measures.  I was 19 years old, back at college, trying to impress the women; a huge red hooter wasn’t going to do the trick.  Any way the doctor prescribed me some cream to rub on it.  So I rushed home, ran up to the bathroom and set to work on Mount Etna.  I rubbed on the cream and left it overnight.  The following day something amazing happened.  The cream had made the boil stand right out.  I waited till the evening and then decided the time was right to finish it off. I just pulled it apart slightly and there was an explosion of green pus followed by a river of blood.  It wasn’t long before I was back to my attractive best.

In fact I was about to meet the girl of my dreams.  A girl in my class at college was going to the ‘Madison Night Club’ in Linthorpe Road and had invited some of her friends.  One of her friends caught my eye as soon as I got in there.  Her name was Jeannette Watson and she was studying to be a Carer at Kirby College.  I plucked up the courage to ask her to dance and at the end of the night asked her out on a date.  Our first date was to a night club in Stockton-on-Tees.  We were dancing and smooching and you know when you’re going out with someone and you have ‘Your Song’, well we decided on our song that night… George Benson ‘In Your Eyes’ 

IN YOUR EYES, I CAN SEE MY DREAM'S REFLECTIONS IN YOUR EYES, FOUND THE ANSWERS TO MY QUESTIONS IN YOUR EYES, I CAN SEE THE REASONS WHY OUR LOVE'S ALIVE, IN YOUR EYES, WE'RE DRIFTING SAFELY BACK TO SHORE AND I THINK I'VE FINALLY LEARNED TO LOVE YOU MORE

Someone pass the Sick Bag!  What could I do though; I was truly in love for the first time in my life. 

Jeannette was 17 years old and she lived in Hemlington, which was on the outskirts of Middlesbrough.   I could catch the No.5 bus from Green Lane to her house.  I could’ve lied and said I had my own car but as I didn’t, it wouldn’t have done me any favours.  She lived with her Mam (northern for Mum) & Dad, elder brother Paul and younger sister Fiona. She also had an older sister, Susan who lived in Middlesbrough Town Centre.  Jeannette’s best friend was Kendra Griffiths, who also lived in Hemlington. I had a shock one day while at Jeannette’s house.  Her brother, Paul brought home his new girlfriend, who turned out to be the best friend of my previous girlfriend, Catherine.  Slightly awkward, but she promised not to reveal any of my sordid secrets!  Like I’d got any!

Things were great between us, but I could foresee one slight difficulty in our relationship.  She was a Christian, not an in your face Bible basher but she went to church and all that.  Whereas the nearest I’d ever been to Christianity, was watching Monty Python’s ‘Life of Brian’.  Good film!  The evangelist Billy Graham was doing a tour of Britain and one of his gigs was at Roker Park, Sunderland.  Jeannette and her brother said they were going and I could come too, if I wanted.  I didn’t really but I’d never been to Roker Park and I fancied seeing what it was like.  Anyway, Billy G was doing all his praise the Lord malarkey.  Then he started to ask people to come down onto the pitch.  I declined at first but then thought “What harm could it do”.  Well I think as I walked onto the turf I was hypnotized.  I woke up to discover I’d signed up for the Full Christianity deluxe package.  I had two blokes in suits come round to Jeannette’s house, with enough literature to open a shop.  They were there for hours, arranging all sorts of Christianity type things for me to go on.  All I was thinking was how I can tell them to “piss off” without being disrespectful.  I wish I’d worn my Iron Maiden T-shirt from the ‘Beast on the Road’ tour.   Anyway I managed to get rid of them, without being blasphemous.  Never again, Jehovah’s Witness and the like was strictly door in the face, no eye contact, from now on.  

Ann & Geoff’s eldest daughter Kate had contracted Whooping Cough.  It was really nasty and you can see where it gets its name from.  They didn’t like to leave Kate and Charlotte, while Kate had this illness, but one night I persuaded them to go and see a play at the ‘Little Theatre’ (which was just round the corner), safe in the knowledge that the kids would be ok with Jeannette and I looking after them.   They’d only been gone about an hour, but Kate’s coughing was so bad I completely panicked.  I ran round to the Little Theatre, almost stopped the show and dragged Ann and Geoff out of the audience to come home.  Of course by the time we got home Kate had stopped coughing and was fast asleep.  Better to be safe than sorry, I always say. 

I bumped into Simon Berry (my best friend from when I lived in Middlesbrough before) fairly often.  Normally in the ‘Linny’ (Linthorpe Hotel), as being a student, it was like a second home.  He was dating Jill Allison, who’d he known since Green Lane Primary School.  He still hung around with Simon Hughes and was also friends with one of my friends from Kings Manor, Chris Evans. I’d sometimes go to the Boro games with Simon.  The Boro team of 1983 wasn’t quite like watching the great teams from the 70’s.  For a start they were in the 2nd Division and they didn’t have any star players but it’s in your blood: “Boro till I die”.
 One thing that was very different about football then and now was the number of players used by each team.  1983/84 season, Boro used 17 players all season.  In the 1980/81 season, Aston Villa won the 1st Division and only used 13 players all season.  Why do so many players get injured nowadays?  David Armstrong played 371 consecutive League and Cup games for Middlesbrough, 1973 – 1981.  371 games, 8 years, that’s some achievement, don’t you think? 
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                       “I’ll have a ‘P’ please Bob”

1983 heralded the start of the greatest TV prorgamme ever. ‘BLOCKBUSTERS’
Buzzing in and answering the question correctly meant that space would be turned your colour. One player had the white spaces, and a team of two players had blue. The idea of the game was to fill in as many spaces as necessary so that a contiguous line of your colour went across the board horizontally (for the blue team) or vertically (for the white player, who could make the journey in one less space than the blues to compensate for their single-ness).  Getting a question correct also allowed you to choose the next letter.  The board is constructed in such a way that ties weren't possible, although a frequent occurrence was the "mutual space" whereby both sides needed the same one space in order to complete their line across the board.

On the run 

The side who won the best of three matches went on to play the Gold Run. In this game, the participant (either the white player, or a nominated player from the blue team) had to work their way across the board from left to right within 60 seconds (or "within that magic minute", as Bob often put it). The hexagons had letter combinations such as "MTOC" and the contestants had to guess what these stood for using clues given by the host. e.g. "Famous humanitarian from India" would be "Mother Theresa of Calcutta”.

Regardless of whether the player won the Gold Run or not, the champion(s) went on to play another team or single player. Winning successive matches earned a chance at further Gold Runs with increasingly impressive prizes. A fourth Gold Run tended to be a holiday break somewhere in Europe, while winning the fifth and final Gold Run led to an excellent adventure holiday somewhere in the world. A failed Gold Run meant that the contestant(s) would get £10 for every correct answer. Correct answers during the main game were worth £5. 
All contestants, successful or otherwise, took away the (apparently much-coveted) 'Blockbusters' sweatshirt (or Rugby shirt, depending on the year), dictionary and personal organiser. The latter item varied over the Holness-years (and possibly wasn't even part of the package in the early years), but there was certainly always an item of clothing and a dictionary for everyone to take away. Pictures of the previous contestants wearing the sweatshirt/rugby shirt were invariably shown when Bob referred to the prizes. 

Giant figureheads adorned the top of the studio. There was a whole set of them, featuring famous people from the past. They were all made out of polystyrene that had been modelled using a hot metal wire. The chief Greek god Zeus took pride of place.

Key Moments

The students showed off their "lucky mascot" toys they had brought with them. 

When Bob once asked, "What 'L' is a sum of money you borrow from a bank?" a girl answered, "Can I have a loan, please, Bob?" Bob's response was to get his wallet out straightaway!  A famous out-take was where a contestant answered a biology question with the response "Orgasm" instead of "Organism", and the lesser-known one where another student offered the answer "Kama Sutra" instead of "Kamikaze".

The oh-aren't-we-wacky-students always did the weird clappy-wavy dance thing (technical term: "hand jive") that ended each fifth programme. This is because five programmes were recorded during one day, and the producers let them do it as the final thing before they went home. After extensive analysis of the tapes, we bring you the dance in full: 

Knee-clap; Hand-clap; Hand-over-hand (x2); Potato-hands (x2); Elbow-point-twirl (x2); Repeat x3; Knee-clap; Hand-clap; Clap in the air.
Blockbuster Catchphrases

At the beginning of the show on the original version: "And here is the host of Blockbusters - Bob Holness!" which later became: "And now - please welcome the host of Blockbusters - Bob Holness!" 

"Put yourself on the Hot Spot, please!" 

"Gold to gold in 60 seconds or less", followed by either, "Tell us where you want to start on the left and we'll start the clock" or, "We'll start the clock when you tell us where you want to start on the left". 

"£10 for every correct answer if you don't make it". 

"Congratulations, and this is your prize - take a look at this!" 

"Retake your seat and we'll carry on with the game - thank you very much!" 

"Let's play 'Blockbusters'!" 

There was a lot of joking around with the way in which contestants nominated the next hexagon to play for. It started with "Can I have a P please, Bob?" and progressed to "I want U, Bob" (which only the girls said, strangely enough). 

1983 Facts & Figures

Jan 22nd – 5 times Wimbledon Champion Bjorn Borg, retired from Tennis at the age of 26. 
March 23rd – President Ronald Regan proposed a revolutionary defence system dubbed “Star

 Wars”.

June 10th – Margaret Thatcher won a second term as Prime Minister, with a landslide victory in 
the General Election.

June 24th – Sally Ride, America’s first woman in space, returned safely to earth on board the
 Challenger Space Shuttle.

Aug 14th – Steve Cram (1500m) and Daley Thompson (Decathlon) won Gold medals for GB at the
 first World Athletic Champs.

Oct 2nd – Neil Kinnock was picked as the new Leader of the Labour Party.  He slipped on

 Brighton beach and got his trousers wet.

Oct 27th – 800 US Marines invaded Grenada.

Nov 18th – Mrs. Janet Walton, a 31 year old Liverpool woman, gave birth to sextuplets, all girls.

Dec 17th – An IRA bomb exploded outside Harrods.

Hits of the year – Karma Chameleon, Uptown Girl, Red red wine.

Deaths

February 25th – Tennessee Williams, US Playwright, died aged 71.

April 4th – Gloria Swanson, US Actress, died aged 84. 

May 31st – Jack Dempsey, US Boxer, died aged 87.

July 30th – David Niven, British Actor, died of a muscular wasting disease, died aged 73.

September 10th – Balthazar Johannes Vorster, South African leader, died aged 67.

October 10th – Sir Ralph Richardson, British Actor, died aged 80.
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